
HEARING TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003 
 

 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Licensing Sub-Committee (5) 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Tuesday 12th November, 2019 

   

Time: 
 

 10.00 am 

   

Venue: 
 

 Room 18.01-03, 18th Floor, Westminster City Hall, 64 Victoria 
Street, London, SW1E 6QP 

   

Members: 
 

 Councillors: 
 

 

  Murad Gassanly (Chairman) 
Louise Hyams 
Aicha Less 

 

 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda. 
 
Admission to the public gallery is via a visitor’s pass which 
is available from the main ground floor reception at 64 
Victoria Street from 9.30am.  If you have a disability and 
require any special assistance please contact the Committee 
Officer (details listed below) in advance of the meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Kisi Smith-Charlemagne, Senior Committee and 
Governance Officer. 
 
Email: kscharlemagne@westminster.gov.uk  Tel: 020 7641 
2783 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To report any changes to the membership. 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 
 

 

 Licensing Applications for Determination 
 

 

1.   100 WARDOUR, GROUND FLOOR, 100 WARDOUR STREET, 
LONDON, W1F 0TN 

(Pages 1 - 230) 

 
App 

No 

Ward / 

Cumulative 

Impact 

Area 

Site Name 

and 

Address 

App 

Type 

Licensing Ref 

No. 

1. West End 

Ward /West 

Cumulative 

Impact 

Area 

100 

Wardour 

Ground 

Floor 

100 

Wardour 

Street 

London 

W1F 0TN 

Premise

s 

License 

Review 

19/02509/LIRE

VP 

 
 

 

 
Stuart Love  
Chief Executive 
6 November 2019 



 
 

 

In considering applications for premises licences under the Licensing Act 2003, the sub-
committee is advised of the following: 
 
POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to the City of Westminster 
statement of Licensing Policy, effective from 7th January 2016. 
 
GUIDANCE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The Licensing Sub-Committee is required to have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.  The most recent version 
was published in April 2018. 
 
CORE HOURS WHEN CUSTOMERS ARE PERMITTED TO BE ON THE PREMISES  
(As set out in the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy 2016)  
 
•   For premises for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises: 

 
Friday and Saturday: 10:00 to midnight 
Sundays immediately prior to Bank Holidays: Midday to midnight 
Other Sundays: Midday to 22:30 
Monday to Thursday: 10:00 to 23:30. 

 
• For premises for the supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises: 

 
Monday to Saturday: 08:00 to 23:00 
Sundays: 10:00 to 22:30. 

 
•   For premises for the provision of other licensable activities: 
 

Friday and Saturday: 09.00 to midnight 
Sundays immediately prior to Bank Holidays: 09.00 to midnight 
Other Sundays: 09.00 to 22.30 
Monday to Thursday: 09.00 to 23.30. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             
 City of Westminster 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Item No: 
 

 

   

Licensing Ref No:  
 

19/02509/LIREVP 

   

 
Date: 

 

 
12 November 2019 

   

Classification: 
  

For General Release 
 

   

 
Title of Report: 

 

 100 Wardour 
Ground Floor 
100 Wardour Street  
London 
W1F 0TN 

   

 
Report of: 

 

 
Director of Public Protection and Licensing 

   

 
Policy context: 

 

 
City of Westminster Statement of Licensing 
Policy 

   

 
Financial summary: 

 

  
None 
 

   

 
Report Author: 

 

 
Miss Michelle Steward 
Senior Licensing Officer 

   

 
Contact Details: 

 

 
Telephone: 0207 641 1872 
E-mail: msteward1@westminster.gov.uk 

Licensing Sub-
Committee Report 

page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

1.   APPLICATION DETAILS 

 
Application 
Type: 

A review of premises licence application under the Licensing Act 2003. 

Applicant: David Steele, Andy Mackay, Lucinda 
Mackay, Alan Geeves and Isaac Romanov  

Date 
Application 
Received: 

25 February 2019  

Premises 
Name and  
Address: 
 

100 Wardour 
Ground Floor 
100 Wardour Street  
London 
W1F 0TN 

Ward Name: 
 

West End   Cumulative 
Impact  
Area: 

West End 

Description of 
Premises: 
 

The premises currently operates as a restaurant and bar.   

Preliminary 
Note: 
 

This matter was first heard on 16 May 2019 and the Licensing Sub-Committee 
following that hearing determined that this should be adjourned for the period of 3 
months to allow the Environmental Health Service to set a noise limiter at the 
Premises to ensure that the complaints about the noise escaping from the premises 
and disturbing residents were permanently resolved once and for all.  This period 
would allow for the testing of the new sound equipment and carry out acoustic 
testing from the neighbouring properties. 

 
 
2.   SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 
 
2.1 An application has been submitted by David Steele, Andy Mackay, Lucinda Mackay, Alan 

Geeves and Isaac Romanov), for a review of the premises licence for 100 Wardour, Ground 
Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN. This application was received on 1 March 2019 
on the grounds of prevention of public nuisance. A full copy of the application can be found at 
Annex 1.  

 
  2.2   Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (para 11.2) states that at any 

stage following the grant of a premises licence, a responsible authority, such as the Police or 
the Environmental Health Service, or any other person who can seek a review, may ask the 
Licensing Authority to review the premises licence because of a matter arising at the premises 
in connection with any of the four licensing objectives. 

 
2.3    As such, in accordance with section 52(2) of the above-mentioned Act, the Licensing Authority 

must hold a hearing to consider the application and any relevant representations.  The 
requirement to hold a hearing is mandatory in nature. 

 
2.4    The premises currently benefits from a premises licence that permits: 
 
Regulated Entertainment:  
 
Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Wednesday: 09:00 to 02:00  
 Thursday to Saturday: 09:00 to 03:00  
 
Performance of Live Music 
 Monday to Wednesday: 09:00 to 02:00  
 Thursday to Saturday: 09:00 to 03:00  
 

page 2



 

Playing of Recorded Music Unrestricted 
 
Anything of a similar description to Live Music, Recorded Music or Performance of Dance 
 Monday to Wednesday: 09:00 to 02:00  
 Thursday to Saturday: 09:00 to 03:00  
 
 
Private Entertainment consisting of dancing, music or other entertainment of a like kind for 
consideration and with a view to profit  Unrestricted 
 
Late Night Refreshment:  
 
 Monday to Wednesday: 23:00 to 02:30  
 Thursday to Saturday: 23:00 to 03:30  
 
Sale by Retail of Alcohol:  
 
     Monday to Wednesday: 10:00 to 02:00  
 Thursday to Saturday: 10:00 to 03:00  
 Sunday: 12:00 to 22:30 
 
Seasonal Timings:  
 
Alcohol may be sold or supplied: 
 

The permitted hours on New Year's Eve will extend to the start of permitted hours on the 
following day, or if there are no permitted hours on 1 January, to 00:00 on New Year's Eve. 

 
NOTE - The above restrictions do not prohibit: 
 
(a) during the first twenty minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol from the premises 

unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel; 
(b) during the first thirty minutes after the above hours the consumption of the alcohol on the 

premises by persons taking table meals there if the alcohol was supplied for consumption as 
ancillary to the meals; 

(c) the sale or supply of alcohol to or the consumption of alcohol by any person residing in the 
licensed premises; 

(d) the ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by the vendor of the 
alcohol so ordered; 

(e) the sale of alcohol to a trader or registered club for the purposes of the trade or club; 
(f) the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen in which the sale or supply 

of alcohol is carried out under the authority of the Secretary of State or an authorised mess of 
members of Her Majesty's naval, military or air forces; 

  
(g) the taking of alcohol from the premises by a person residing there;  
(h) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to any private friends of a person residing 

there who are bona fide entertained by him at his own expense, or the consumption of  alcohol by 
persons so supplied;  

(i) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to persons employed there for the 
purposes of the business carried on by the holder of the licence, or the consumption of liquor so 
supplied, if the liquor is supplied at the expense of their employer or of the person carrying on or in 
charge of the business on the premises. 

 
In this condition, any reference to a person residing in the premises shall be construed as including a 
person not residing there but carrying on or in charge of the business on the premises.  
 
  

page 3



 

Sunday 
 
(a) On Sundays, other than Christmas Day or New Year's Eve, 12:00 noon to 22:30; 
(b) On New Year's Eve on a Sunday, 12:00 to 22:30; 
(c) On New Year's Eve from the end of permitted hours on New Year's Eve to the start of permitted 
hours on the following day (or, if there are no permitted hours on the following day, 00:00 midnight on 
31st December). 
 
NOTE - The above restrictions do not prohibit: 
 

(a) during the first twenty minutes after the above hours the consumption of the alcohol on the 
premises; 

(b) during the first twenty  minutes after the above hours, the taking of the alcohol from the 
premises unless the alcohol is supplied or taken in an open vessel; 

(c) during the first thirty minutes after the above hours the consumption of the alcohol on the 
premises by persons taking table meals there if the alcohol was supplied for consumption as 
ancillary to the meals;   

(d) the sale or supply of alcohol to or the consumption of alcohol by any person residing in the 
licensed premises; 

(e) the ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the despatch by the vendor of the 
alcohol so ordered; 

(f) the sale of alcohol to a trader or registered club for the purposes of the trade or club; 
(g) the sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen in which the sale or 

supply of alcohol is carried out under the authority of the Secretary of State or an authorised 
mess of members of Her Majesty's naval, military or air forces; 

(h) the taking of alcohol from the premises by a person residing there;  
(i) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to any private friends of a person 

residing there who are bona fide entertained by him at his own expense, or the consumption of  
alcohol by persons so supplied;  

(j) the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises to persons employed there for the 
purposes of the business carried on by the holder of the licence, or the consumption of liquor 
so supplied, if the liquor is supplied at the expense of their employer or of the person carrying 
on or in charge of the business on the premises. 

 
Late Night Refreshment: 
 

The terminal hour for late night refreshment on New Year's Eve is extended to 05:00 on New 
Year's Day. 

 
2.5   These review proceedings are brought under the licensing objectives on the grounds of 

prevention of public nuisance. Further documents that were submitted as part of the review 
application can be found at Annex 1. 

 
2.6 The applicant states that there are number of issues relating to noise and dispersal of patrons. 
 
2.7 On submission of this application, the applicant provided an in-depth description of the issues 

relating to the premises which stated the following: 
 
Music Noise: 
 

• Music/beats emanating from the premises.  This has occurred to a greater or lesser 
extent ever since the building was redeveloped in the mid 1990s. 

• Numerous complaints have been made to Westminster City Council’s 24 hour noise 
Team. 

• Numerous interventions in over the years from the regulatory authorities with no 
permanent solution. 

• Nuisance has been witnessed by Council Officers. 

• At least one noise abatement notice has been served. 

page 4



 

• Conditions breached on the Premises Licence to ensure that there is no music 
emanation. 

• Noise has increased in frequency and intensity over the last six months. 

• The noise limiter are either not fit for purpose and/or not working properly. 
 
Dispersal of Customers 

 

• The premises has a late licence, and applicants feel that customer dispersal could be 
managed better. 

 
Protection of Children from Harm 
 

• The noise keeps children in the flats awake and is detrimental to their education and 
well-being. 

• The applicants feel that it will benefit all parties; the residents, the licence holder and 
the regulatory authority; in the long term for this issue to be resolved once and for all. 

 
2.8 A copy of the existing Premises Licence (16/10215/LIPDPS) is attached at Appendix 1 of the 

application. 
 
2.9  Additional submissions received from the applicant can be found at Annex 4.  These are in 

the form of correspondence from the applicant to relevant authorities regarding noise 
disturbance together with a witness statement from Noise Expert. 

 
2.10  Additional submissions received from the premises licence holder can be found at Annex 7.   
 
3.   REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
3.1 The application has also received documentation in support of the review from the 

Environmental Health Service on the 28 March 2019 on the grounds of prevention of public 
nuisance and can be found at Annex 5. 

 
3.2 The application has also received documentation in support of the review from the Licensing 

Authority and the City Inspectors Team on the grounds of prevention of public nuisance and 
proctection of children from harm and can be found at Annex 5. 

 
3.3 The application has also received documentation in support of the review from members of the 

public on the grounds of prevention of public nuisance and can be found at Annex 5. 
 
3.4 The Premises Licence Holders have provided a copy of the Acoustic Report dated 29th March 

2019 and can be found at Annex 7. 
 
4. UPDATE SINCE THE HEARING OF THE 16TH MAY 2019 
 
4.1 Supplemental documents received as late submissions prior to the hearing of the 16th may 

2019 as shown at annex 8 of this report: 
 

• Minor Variation Application and supporting plan received on the 19th October 2015 

• Autograph Noise Statement for hearing dated 16th May 2019 

• Correspondence from Mr David Steele including a time line and supporting emails  

• Letter from Soho Parish C of E Primary 

• Witness Statement from John Crockford dated 9 May 2019 

• Witness Statement from Sarah Lutaaya dated 11th May 2019 
 
4.2 Submissions from the Environmental Health Service received on the 30th October 2019: 
 

page 5



 

Environmental Health carried out the last setting of the limiter between 1.30pm and 6pm on 
Wednesday 23 October. The sound level set in the basement was 91dBLAeq approximately 
5m from the stage. Together with the removal of the sub-woofer on the ground floor 
colleagues ascertained in flats where they had access (flats 35, 15, 16 and 18) that at this 
level the system was inaudible and thus  compliant with the licence conditions. 
 
Subsequent to this last setting no nuisance has been reported occurring since then including 
over the weekend of 25/26 Oct.  Following a further weeks monitoring Environmental Health 
shall provide a detailed report setting out actions taken since the last review hearing. This 
shall include previous settings and subsequent complaints of nuisance. Also will be provided 
suggested additional conditions to prevent recurrence. For the Full Report and submissions 
see Annex 6. 
 

4.2   Submissions from the applicant since the hearing as shown at Annex 8: 
 

• Report from the Applicant 

• Statement from a Resident present at the Sound Testing 
 
5.   OPTIONS: 
 
5.1 On submission of this application to review the premises, the applicants stated in the 

application that they are happy to work with the Premises Licence Holder to secure a workable 
solution whereby the Premises Licence Holder can operate the premises as they see fit but so 
as not to cause music noise to emanate from the premises.  The applicant has suggested 
conditions be updated and added to the operating schedule and can be found at Annex 1 
 

5.2 The Authority must, having regard to the application and the representations, take such steps 
(if any), as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  The steps 
are: 
 
(a) to modify the conditions of the licence; 
(b) to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence; 
(c) to remove the designated premises supervisor; 
(d) to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
(e) to revoke the licence; 

 
and for this purpose the conditions of the licence are modified if any of them is altered or 
omitted or any new condition added. 

 
5.3 In accordance with section 52(6) of the 2003 Act, if the authority takes measures to modify 

conditions or exclude licensable activities from the licence, it may stipulate that the 
modification or exclusion is to have effect for only such period (not exceeding three months) 
as it may specify. 

 
5.4 The licensing authority’s determination of this application does not have effect until the 21 day 

appeal period has expired or if the decision is appealed the date the appeal is determined 
and/or disposed of. 
 

6 LICENSING ACT 2003 APPLICATIONS AND APPEAL HISTORY 
 
6.1 Any applications under the Licensing Act 2003 are set out in Annex 3. 
 

page 6



 

List of Annexes: Annex 1 – Review Application and supporting documents  
Annex 2 – Current Premises Licence 19/11795/LIPDPS and Plans  
Annex 3 – Premises History 
Annex 4 - Expert Witness Evidence from the applicant 
Annex 5 – Representations 
                      Maxwell Koduah (Environmental Health) 
                      Roxsana Haq (Licensing Authority) 
                      Racheal Ejuetami  (City Inspectors) 
                       
                       
                       
                       
                       
                       
Annex 6 – Submissions from Environmental Health  
Annex 7 – Acoustic Report from Premises Licence Holder 
Annex 8 – Supplemental documents received as late submissions  
Annex 9 – Decision Notice from the hearing dated 16 May 2019 

 

page 7



page 8



page 9



page 10



page 11



page 12



page 13



page 14



page 15



page 16



page 17



page 18



page 19



page 20



page 21



page 22



page 23



page 24



page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



page 27



page 28



page 29



page 30



page 31



page 32



page 33



page 34



page 35



page 36



page 37



page 38



page 39



page 40



page 41



page 42



page 43



page 44



page 45



page 46



page 47



page 48



page 49



page 50



page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



page 53



page 54



page 55



page 56



page 57



page 58



page 59



page 60



page 61



page 62



page 63



page 64



page 65



page 66



page 67



page 68



page 69



page 70



page 71



page 72



page 73



page 74



page 75



page 76



page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



page 79



page 80



page 81



page 82



page 83



page 84



page 85



page 86



page 87



page 88



page 89



page 90



page 91



page 92



page 93



page 94



page 95



page 96



page 97



page 98



page 99



page 100



page 101



page 102



page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



page 105



page 106



page 107



page 108



page 109



page 110



page 111



page 112



page 113



page 114



page 115



page 116



page 117



page 118



page 119



page 120



page 121



page 122



page 123



page 124



page 125



page 126



page 127



page 128



page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



page 131



page 132



page 133



page 134



page 135



page 136



page 137



page 138



page 139



page 140



page 141



page 142



page 143



page 144



page 145



page 146



page 147



page 148



 1 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER                                      MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO  Michelle Steward, Licensing Officer  

REFERENCE  19/02509/LIREVP 

 

 

FROM      EH Consultation Team, 15th Floor, City Hall 

 
BEING DEALT WITH BY Mr Anil Drayan 
TELEPHONE       0207 641 1774 
 
DATE      5 November 2019 
 

 
100 WARDOUR, GROUND FLOOR, 100 WARDOUR STREET, LONDON 
 
This memorandum details the actions taken by the Environmental Health Service subsequent to the 
review hearing on Thursday 16 May 2019 when the Licensing Sub-Committee resolved to adjourn 
the hearing to a later date. This was to enable the proposals put forward and actions taken by the 
Premises Licence holder to be embedded and tested. 
 
Set out below is the timeline and the actions taken by Environmental Health: 
 
Friday 14 June 2019 – monitoring and setting of limiter  
 
Following the review hearing my colleague, John Crockford, together with help from 3 City 
Inspectors organised a monitoring and sound level setting visit which was carried out on Friday 14 
June 2019 between 22:00 hours and 00:30 hours. As this was done in the evening there was 
considerable customer presence at the premises.   
 
The results of this testing are detailed in the acoustic report from Cole Jarman, reference 
15/0472/M1, Revision 1, dated 18 June 2019, which is attached to this memorandum. This details 
the sound levels set for the 4 areas of the premises which have their own dedicated sound 
systems. 
 
Note , however, a misunderstanding appears to have been included in this report – Flat 38 was not 
available for a visit so could not be assessed for noise impact. 
 
 Friday 26 July 2019 – monitoring from Flat 38 
 
Subsequent to this test John returned alone on Friday 26 July 2019 to assess from Flat 38. (It took 
this long to re-arrange the return due to unavailability of the various parties) 
 
During the visit John reported he ‘could clearly hear airborne music noise (drums and vocals) with 
bedroom window slightly open.  Levels were reduced but drums still evident.’  
 
 

page 149



 2 

  
 
End of July to end of September 2019 – scheduling of re-setting and reported breaches  
 
Following his visit on 26 July John arranged for a further re-setting visit to be carried out and again 
due to the unavailability of various parties the earliest this could be carried out was for the morning 
of Wednesday 2 October 2019 - it was decided it would be best to do this in the daytime to prevent 
interference from customers or to cause them annoyance.  
 
The principal reason for the re-setting was that the premises agreed to change the acoustic drum 
set, over which volume control could not be exercised, to a digital drum set that goes through the 
limiter giving control of the drum frequencies and thus removing the variability of the acoustic 
drums. 
 
Further evidence for the need for a re-setting was backed up by Mr Steele reporting in early 
September via e-mail to John stating that ‘over the last few months the Sound Limiters has not 
worked on at least 4 occasions'. Mr Steele later stated there had been breaches of the limiter on at 
least 6 occasions.  
 
For Information: In mid-September I took over from my colleague, Max Koduah, as he would be 
on annual leave during the rescheduled hearing on 12 November. Additionally just days before the 
scheduled re-setting John Crockford had been in a serious accident breaking his collar bone during 
a charity bike ride and thus would not be able to take part. 
 
I contacted all the participants directly or via e-mail advising them the re-setting would nevertheless 
go ahead due to the difficulties in getting everyone together again and I wanted as much time as 
possible for monitoring to be carried out prior to the re-hearing. 
 
I also requested if Mr Steele could provide me with precise times, dates and flats that were affected 
in the reported breaches so that I could correlate them to activities at the premises. 
 
Wednesday 2 October 2019 – re-setting the limiter 
 
The re-setting was carried out between 10.45 and 12.30 and I was assisted by my colleagues Mark 
Walshe and Gavin McIntosh. We were able to assess from Flats 38, 35 and with the concierge’s, 

, assistance Flats 15,16 and 18.  
 
The re-setting was carried out under the following parameters: 
 

•  no customers 

•  all the ground floor sound systems were played simultaneously at their maximum settings 

•  band played in the basement (using the electronic drum kit)  
 

Under these parameters, in the flats visited, the music from the band playing was found to be 
inaudible when the measured sound level was 97dBLAeq in the basement. 
 
Mr Farquhar, Operations Director of the Premises Licence holder, further agreed to reduce this 
level by 3dB to 94dBLAeq to act as a buffer. 
 

page 150



 3 

It was hoped to test the DJ set as well but there was no time as there were workmen in another part 
of the building block carrying out noisy drilling work and the morning test was only able to be 
carried out due to them temporarily agreeing to stop their noisy work. 
 
The following e-mail was then sent to Mr Steele: 
 

From: Drayan, Anil: WCC  
Sent: 03 October 2019 12:24 
To: david steele  
Cc: Crockford, John: WCC <jcrockford@westminster.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: Sound Limiters - 2nd Oct 2019 
 
Hi David 
 
The highest sound limiter setting for when music noise could not be heard in the flats 
was 97dBLAeq. 
 
Following this the premises agreed to have 3dB as a safety margin/buffer and the 
limiter has therefore been set to 94dBLAeq. 
 
Hopefully this setting will now have resolved the problem but if it has not please 
contact our Noise Team and request a visit. They will not always be able to visit and 
any incidents should be recorded precisely using the proforma diary sheet which I 
previously sent to you. The link for this is attached below again for information; 
 

http://transact.westminster.gov.uk/docstores/publications_store/29317_1.pdf 
 
Can I emphasize how important it is to record any incidents in detail as this will help 
me in relating to the particular activity that may have been occurring at the premises 
at the time. 
 
Please pass this onto the other residents affected who have been involved in the 
review application. 
 
I am happy to be kept informed (initially by e-mail) of any incidents until the review 
hearing. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Anil 

 
Monday 7 October 2019 – complaint received from Mr Steele 
 
   On Monday 7 October I received the e-mail below from Mr Steele: 
 

From: david steele   
Sent: 07 October 2019 10:16 
To: Drayan, Anil: WCC <adrayan@westminster.gov.uk>; Crockford, John: WCC 
<jcrockford@westminster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Urgent Sound Test  

page 151



 4 

 
Dear Anil/John 
With a huge level of frustration and disappointment ,I am reporting that music was 
clearly audible on Friday and Saturday night. 
It did sound like recorded music on Friday night. 
This was by far the worst since July and the first time since then,at least in my flat at 
very late hours. 
I attempted to report this online but Westminster Council’s site failed Friday Night 
,Saturday Daytime,and Saturday Night. 
We send screen shot by separate email. 
I would request that you urgently schedule another Sound Test. 
This test would need to be with a full band and preferably on a weekend, as was 
agreed previously. 
It also appears that the Sound Limiters are not working correctly which we first 
pointed out,back in July. 
Anil,as you have just become involved there maybe elements of the License Review 
you are unaware of. 
1. 
100 Wardour have accepted there is a Sound Problem  
2. 
100 Wardour accept that Music is not allowed to be audible in the flats above. 
3. 
100 Wardour accept they need to need to take measures to ensure this. 
 
My understanding of the License Review was that there is an expectation from the 
Committee that Westminster Council would take measures to ensure that residents 
were no longer disturbed by Music from 100 Wardour. 
 
It’s now October, one month before the next hearing and nothing has been resolved, 
this is not acceptable. 
 
All the best 
David Steele 
 

7 October to 22 October 2019 – arranging final re-setting of noise limiter 
  
1.  In order to better understand the cause I then requested if Mr Steele could provide details of 

when the nuisance precisely occurred and any description of it. I also requested if he could 
provide the same for the 6 previous incidents he has mentioned and received the following 2 
e-mail replies: 

 
i.        From: david steele   

Sent: 07 October 2019 16:22 
To: Drayan, Anil: WCC <adrayan@westminster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Sound Limiters not working  

 
Dear Anil 
As promised a list of incidents; 
 
 

page 152



 5 

June 21st. 
Tennant in Loft 28 complained of late night music coming from 100 Wardour St. 
July 3rd. 
Architect,  was visiting my flat approx 2.00pm and noticed music 
audible in my flat,I could also hear and went down to lobby where   
conformed he could also hear music. 
Were able to ascertain that music was definitely coming from 100 Wardour St. 
 
July 9th. At 16.42pm 

 could heat music clearly coming from 100 Wardour St. 
 
July 26th. 
John Crockford able to hear music in Mackays flat very clearly audible. 
 
You have to ask the question how and why music was much louder on that night 
when 100 Wardour St had claimed in all previous tests that they had been playing 
music at full volume. 
 
In addition to this both Isaac Romanov and Andy and Lucinda Mackay have stated 
that from time to time music has been audible in there flats over recent months. 
 
Let me know if there is anything else I can help you with. I can get a statement from 
Guang Yu Ren confirming July 3rd If necessary. 
 
Westminster Council have the first part of this information since July, and this was 
also passed on to 100 Wardour St,I believe. 
 
All the best 
 
David Steele 
 
 

ii.        From: david steele   
Sent: 08 October 2019 10:34 
To: Drayan, Anil: WCC <adrayan@westminster.gov.uk>; Crockford, John: WCC 
<jcrockford@westminster.gov.uk>; Michael Farquhar <michael@danddlondon.com> 
Subject: 100 Wardour 
 
Dear Anil 
As requested; 
Friday October 4th 
12.30 am 
Went to bed and could hear music,similar sound and level to that during Wednesday’s 
Sound Test. 
Friend could also hear music. 
Attempted to contact Noise Team via website but website continually crashed. 
Took extra pillows and used them to block out music,fell asleep,exact time unknown. 
Saturday October 5th 
Could hear music approx 11.45pm 
Audible,but not quite as loud as previous night. 

page 153



 6 

Tried to contact Noise Team as instructed via Website but again site continually 
crashed. 
Used pillows to block out sound and fell asleep sometime after 1.00am 
 
All the best  
David Steele  
 

2. The incidents listed above were put to the premises and I received the following reply (in 
bold): 
 

•   June 21st. ‘Tennant in Loft 28 complained of late night music coming from 100 
Wardour St.’. do we have exact timings? Also is the first time the resident at flat 
28 has experienced music? 
 

•   July 3rd. ‘approx. 2.00pm David noticed music audible (visitor at premises also heard 
music noise). I went down to lobby where   confirmed he could also 
hear music. Were able to ascertain that music was definitely coming from 100 
Wardour St.’ our music starts on Wednesday at 20:00pm.  There was no private 
event and the basement level was closed all day until 17:30 that day. As it’s now 
3 months passed, I do not have CCTV footage to fall back on. 

 

•   July 9th. ‘At 16.42pm  could heat music clearly coming from 100 
Wardour St.’ this was Tuesday where our band played from 20:00 to 22:30. The 
basement level was closed until 17:30 that day. As it’s now 3 months passed, I 
do not have CCTV footage to fall back on. I have checked with team and we had 
no events of any sort going on. in fact we had no events in July.  

 

•   Last Friday the 4th of October, We had a 2 piece band( keys and singer) playing 
from 20:30-21:15. Then from 21:30 to 22:15pm. 22:45pm 8 piece band played 
until 00:15pm.  DJ came on at 00:15 to 3am.  

 

•   Last Saturday 5th of October. We had 5 piece band playing from 20:30-21:15. 
Then from 21:30 to 22:15pm. 22:45pm 8 piece band played until 00:15pm. DJ 
came on at 00:15 to 3am. 

 
3. The incidents on 4/5 October seemed to coincide when the DJ music was being played. 

As we had not been able to check this on 2 October a final assessment and setting was 
arranged at the earliest available date for all which was the afternoon of Wednesday 23 
October 2019.  

 
4. I had also contacted the other residents either directly or by e-mail if they also heard 

anything over the weekend of 4/5 October – these responses are summarised in the 
e-mail below I sent out prior to the final re-setting: 

 
From: Drayan, Anil: WCC  
Sent: 21 October 2019 17:07 
To: Leslie Kwarteng <lesliek@danddlondon.com>; Michael Farquhar 
<michael@danddlondon.com> 

page 154



 7 

Cc: David Loewi <Davidloewi@danddlondon.com>; Crockford, John: WCC 
<jcrockford@westminster.gov.uk>; Annabel Shaw <AnnabelS@danddlondon.com>; 
david steele > 
Subject: RE: Urgent Sound Test  
 
Hi all 
 
Before we meet this Wednesday (23 Oct, 1.30pm) I set out below, for information, the 
latest situation as far as I am aware: 
 

• Last Friday (18 Oct.)  I was able to contact by phone Issac Romanov (Flat 16) 
and  Alan Geeves (Flat 21). Both said they have not heard any music in their 
premises since at least the last resetting on 2 October. 

 

• However Mr Romanov also explained that he has been away the weekends of 
4/5 Oct and 11/12 Oct but is likely to be in this weekend. Mr Romanov also 
advised he will try to be present on 23 Oct.  

 

• Mr Geeves will not be able to be present on 23 Oct. However his main worry is 
that even if the situation may currently have been made acceptable this has 
been done before only for nuisance to start recurring a few months later.   

 

• I received an e-mail from Mr  last Friday advising that flat 15 
heard music on 4/5 Oct, were not in on 11/12 Oct and he can hear it in his 
office on ground floor. He also advised flat 25 do not stay there on a Friday and 
Saturday  

 
With regards to the weekend just gone (18/19 Oct) my information is that the Noise 
Team did not receive any calls and nor has anyone contacted me directly.  
 
It is likely that the assessments this Wednesday shall be able to be carried out from 
flats 15 and 25 (if Mr Abdo can arrange it), flat 35, flat 16 and Mr Abdo’s office. 
 
Regards 
 
Anil 

 
Wednesday 23 October 2019 – final re-setting of noise limiter 
 
For this final attempt at setting the noise limiter I was assisted by my colleague Gavin McIntosh and 
also by John Crockford who was able to come back to work following his accident. 
 
Experience has shown that nuisance can be caused by how loud music is played at (i.e. Leq 
decibel level) AND also the frequency it is played at ( i.e. music with a predominant low frequency 
component does not have to be particularly loud to cause nuisance). In order to prevent nuisance 
both aspects have to be controlled. 
 
I therefore organised the assessment to be carried out in the following order and circumstances: 
 

page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 8 

i. Check existing levels for the sound limiter (i.e. is it consistent with the setting of 2 
October) 

ii. Final setting to be carried out whilst all sound systems at the premises were playing bass 
heavy DJ music at their maximum settings 

iii. A meeting to be held at the end with the representative of the Premises Licence holder to 
discuss any findings.    

 
As this was carried out in the afternoon there were virtually no customers present. The 
re-assessment started about 13:50 hours and finished about 18:00 hours. 
 

i. Checking existing levels of limiter: 
 
The measured sound levels were found to be 95dBLAeq when the band played and 97 

dBLAeq when bass heavy DJ music was being played.  
 
Instead of the expected 94dBLAeq that was set on 2 October Euan Mackenzie (sound 
engineer from Autograph in charge of setting the Soundweb limiter) explained the 
discrepancy by suggesting that this was because the levels set on the 2nd were from band 
music only. The low frequency component then was therefore much less than when the bass 
heavy DJ music was played. This had the effect of raising the measured sound levels. 
 

ii. Final setting of limiter: 
 
Before the assessment was to commence I requested that the settings needed to be 
reduced by 3dB to 94dBLAeq when the bass heavy DJ music being played. 
 
Even with further incremental reductions to 91dBLAeq my colleagues kept reporting that it 
was still a nuisance predominantly from a low frequency component which appeared not to 
have changed in intensity throughout. 
 
At this point we decided to see if we could isolate the source of this low frequency nuisance. 
Euan turned off all the sound systems and started with playing only the sub-woofer on the 
Ground Floor. As soon as it was re-started my colleagues reported they could feel the bass 
from it even though its sound level was only about 70-75dB. 
 
The premises agreed to completely remove this non-isolated sub-woofer speaker as it was 
not needed in any case.  
 
My immediate thought was that when the Ground Floor systems played predominantly bass 
heavy music this sub-woofer was likely to have been the cause of many of the isolated 
instances of nuisance reported by residents. This appeared to explain the afternoon 
instances of July 3rd and 9th detailed above. 
 
All the music systems were then re-set to their original settings and bass heavy music played 
in all of them. My colleagues reported that music was inaudible when the basement system 
played at 91dBLAeq. 
 
Euan also advised that the settings on the Soundweb was now such that all frequencies 
were being compressed so that there would be little variability in the measured sound levels 
no matter what type of music was being played. 

page 157



 9 

The settings and readings are detailed in the acoustic report from Cole Jarman, reference 
15/0472/M3, Revision 1, dated 24 October 2019 which is attached to this memorandum. 
 

iii. Meeting with representatives of the Premises Licence holder to discuss findings.  
 
During the meeting I advised on and discussed mainly on the following: 
 

• No further re-settings would be carried out as there would not be enough time to 
carry out adequate monitoring. I do expect today’s setting to be more robust with 
the removal of the Ground Floor untreated sub-woofer of which most of us were 
not aware of its presence.  
 

• The large variability between the setting done on 2nd October (i.e. 94dBLAeq) and 
what was found on 23 October (i.e. 97dBLAeq) due to the difference in the type of 
music being played was surprising. To ensure that the settings were now such that 
variability was likely to be very minimal the premises was advised to carry out 
in-performance monitoring by their acoustic consultant before the hearing on 12 
November. Advice was also provided on what was needed for staff to carry out 
their own monitoring subsequent to all this.  

 

• A common complaint from residents is that things are ok for a while after setting of 
the limiter only for it all to start again often only a few weeks later. In order to help 
prevent this I shall be proposing additional management conditions. 

 

• Particular control will need to be exercised on the procurement and management 
of bands as many may have acoustic instrumentation that cannot be controlled by 
the sound limiter. In addition they will need to be advised that maximum music 
sound levels for the audience shall be 91dBLAeq (whereas research has shown 
that expectations are for music levels to be more than 95dBLAeq to provide a good 
experience for the audience) 
  

• If nuisance was still subsequently caused then the premises would seriously have 
to think about what their amplified music offering should entail. The numerous 
sound zones and complicated structural arrangements (e.g. part of basement has 
double height ceiling such that this ceiling forms the roof of the lightwell serving the 
Flats ending in the 8 numbering) would make finally resolving this issue not 
practical for Environmental Health.   

 
October 24 to date      
 
Since the final setting on 23 October neither the Noise Team nor myself have received any 
complaints from residents to date (5 November 2019) that nuisance is still persisting. 
 
However there appears to have been a misunderstanding with some residents on the level set and 
I state the following for information: 
 

• I should first add that my phone network did not enable me to have direct contact with 
my colleagues either by voice or text unless I went out onto the street which I 
constantly had to do. John, however, was able to directly text Euan as Euan’s network 
did provide text coverage in the basement.  

page 158



 10 

 

• Towards the end of the day John requested a final 2dB reduction via text to Euan. As 
we were coming to the end I wanted to speak to John to understand where we were 
and before exiting to the street I glanced at the sound level meter which at that part of 
the song being played was showing a reading of about 90dB (i.e. this was not a LAeq 
level). This I conveyed to John as being the current approximate levels and we 
surmised final levels might have to be at about 88dB following his request.  

 

• Returning back to the basement I was informed by Neil Jarman the LAeq levels were 
now 91dBLAeq which included the 2dB reduction that was requested.     

 
Condition Proposed by Environmental Health:  
 
Environmental Health recommends the following condition is added to the Licence: 
 

Anytime a band plays at the premises a member of management shall sign this off 
after assessing the following has been satisfactorily carried out: 
 

i. Band informed of maximum music noise level for the audience 
ii. All amplified music to be played through the in-house sound system 

iii. Any acoustic equipment shall be limited to low sound volume instrumentation 
(such as tambourines, flutes etc)  

iv. A record of this sign-off shall be kept for at least 6 months and made available 
on request to an authorised officer of the Council.    

 
Mr Anil Drayan 
Environmental Health Officer 
Environmental Health Consultation Team 
 
(proof read by John Crockford, Environmental Health Officer, Environmental Science Team) 
 
Attachments: 
 

• Acoustic report from Cole Jarman, reference 15/0472/M1, Revision 1, dated 18 June 
2019 

• Acoustic report from Cole Jarman, reference 15/0472/M3, Revision 1, dated 24 October 
2019 

 

page 159



 

Cole Jarman Limited   Reg. in England and Wales No. 7102436 Head Office   +44 (0)1932 829007  
An RSK Company  John Cree House, 24b High Street, Addlestone, Surrey, United Kingdom   KT15 1TN 
 

Registered Office   Spring Lodge, 172 Chester Road, Helsby  WA6 0AR Manchester   0161 470 8888 | Fourways House, 57 Hilton Street, Manchester  M1 2EJ 
www.colejarman.com   info@colejarman.com Bristol   0117 287 2633 | The Old School, Stillhouse Lane, Bristol  BS3 4EB 

Memorandum 

  
  
Project: 100 Wardour Street 

Subject: Acoustic Tests 

Prepared: Neil Jarman   

Date: 18th June 2019   

Reference: 15/0472/M1 Revision: 1 Approved: LM 
  
  

1 Acoustic Tests – 14th June 2019 

1.1 This memorandum is written to report the results of the acoustic tests carried out on the 
evening of Friday 14th June 2019. 

1.2 The tests were undertaken in conjunction with environmental health officers of Westminster 
City Council, led by John Crockford.  The tests were carried out in a collaborative manner. 

1.3 The purpose was to establish sound levels that could operate throughout 100 Wardour Street 
without music being audible within residences above.   Over the course of the evening we 
were advised the EHO’s visited flats 15, 16, 18, 35 and 38. 

1.4 Euan McKenzie of Autograph controlled the sound level limiter settings. 

1.5 Noise measurements were made by Neil Jarman.  The readings were made using a Norsonic 
type 140 Precision Sound Level Meter fitted with windshield.  The meter was calibrated 
before, during and after the survey using a Norsonic type 1251 calibrator and found to have 
drifted by only +0.1dB, an insignificant figure.  The readings were all made whilst music was 
playing continuously (I.e. did not include any pauses between tracks).  Measurement durations 
were typically1-2 minutes, always to when the level was steady.  

The Den  

1.6 The first set of tests were undertaken in the small bar that fronts Wardour Street known as The 
Den.   Amplified recorded music was played through the dedicated house sound system.  We 
were in the premises between 2215-2230 hours.  Music was not audible in the flats. 

1.7 The agreed set levels in the central bar area of The Den were as follows: 

page 160

https://www.colejarman.com/manchester-office/
http://www.colejarman.com/
https://www.colejarman.com/bristol-office/


Acoustic Tests 

Page 2 100 Wardour Street 
 Memorandum 15/0472/M1/1  // 18th June 2019 
 
 

          
          

Description dB  LAeq 
dB Leq @ Octave Band Centre Frequency (Hz) 

63 125 250 500 100 200 4000 8000 

Central Bar Area 85 71 77 80 80 80 79 74 68 

          
          

T1 Central Bar, Agreed Set Sound Levels in “The Den” 

1.8 Whilst sound levels were dominated by music there was some contribution to the overall levels 
from customer noise. 

 Ground Floor - 100 Wardour Street 

1.9 At ground floor level there is a dining and seating area at the front, known as the Atrium, 
directly beneath a large glazed rooflight.  Behind that at the rear is a large central bar area with 
lounge seating around.  Tests in this area were conducted between 2230 and 2300 hours 

1.10 The sound levels were adjusted in both areas until the music was agreed inaudible in the flats.  
These levels are tabulated below:     

          
          

Description 
dB  
LAeq 

dB Leq @ Octave Band Centre Frequency (Hz) 
63 125 250 500 100 200 4000 8000 

In “The Atrium” 85 63 78 81 81 82 77 69 58 

Rear Bar right hand side 83 65 69 75 80 79 76 70 55 

          
          

T2 Ground Floor, Agreed Set Sound Levels in “The Atrium” and rear bar 

1.11 Whilst sound levels were dominated by music there was some contribution to the overall levels 
from customer noise. 

Basement - 100 Wardour Street 

1.12 In the basement is the stage area used by bands and later the DJ. 

1.13 On this occasion there was a nine piece amplified band made up of: 

 3 Singers 
 Brass: Trumpet and Saxophone 
 Guitar, Bass guitar, Keyboard and Drums  

   

page 161



Acoustic Tests 

Page 3 100 Wardour Street 
 Memorandum 15/0472/M1/1  // 18th June 2019 
 
 

1.14 The band played between 2300-0005 hours.  In that period the music sound levels were 
adjusted.  Also the sub-woofer speakers each side of the stage were changed to cardioid 
speakers which are more directional.   It was reported that the new replacement subwoofers 
reduced the bass audibility in flats noticeably.  By the end of the set it was reported the sound 
was audible at one flat only.  The levels recorded at the end of the set are recorded below. 

1.15 After the set a DJ operated from the stage.  Sound levels of the DJ are recorded below 
compared to the band levels.  The levels were recorded around 5m from the stage in the 
centre.  For both readings music sound was dominant, although with the band there was some 
customer sound adding a little at higher frequencies. 

          
          

Description dB  LAeq 
dB Leq @ Octave Band Centre Frequency (Hz) 

63 125 250 500 100 200 4000 8000 
Band playing.  Music 
audible in one flat 

99 88 95 95 96 96 92 84 77 

DJ Music inaudible in 
all flats 

98 89 91 92 95 93 90 83 76 

Difference -1 +1 -4 -3 -1 -3 -2 -1 -1 
          
          

T3 Basement Music Sound Levels 

1.16 It was reported that with the band playing there was still some bass audibility at one flat only.  
The level for the DJ was reduced slightly and that was then accepted as inaudible.  From the 
above table it would appear likely that the band sound level at 125Hz was causing the bass 
audibility of the band.  Only a small adjustment from the set levels for the band appears to 
now be necessary to achieve the desired outcome. 

 End of Section 

page 162



 

Cole Jarman Limited   Reg. in England and Wales No. 7102436 Head Office   +44 (0)1932 829007  
An RSK Company  John Cree House, 24b High Street, Addlestone, Surrey, United Kingdom   KT15 1TN 
 

Registered Office   Spring Lodge, 172 Chester Road, Helsby  WA6 0AR Manchester   0161 470 8888 | Fourways House, 57 Hilton Street, Manchester  M1 2EJ 
www.colejarman.com   info@colejarman.com Bristol   0117 287 2633 | The Old School, Stillhouse Lane, Bristol  BS3 4EB 

Memorandum 

  
  
Project: 100 Wardour Street 

Subject: Acoustic Tests 

Prepared: Neil Jarman   

Date: 24th October 2019   

Reference: 15/0472/M3 Revision: 1 Approved: LM 
  
  

1 Acoustic Tests – 23rd October 2019 

1.1 This memorandum is written to report the results of the daytime acoustic tests carried out on 
Wednesday 23rd October 2019 in the afternoon. 

1.2 The tests were undertaken in conjunction with environmental health officers of Westminster 
City Council, led by Anil Drayan.  The tests were carried out in a collaborative manner. 

1.3 The purpose was to establish sound levels that could operate throughout 100 Wardour Street 
without music being audible within residences above.   Over the course of the afternoon we 
were advised the EHO’s were visiting flats 15, 16, 18, 25 and 35.    

1.4 Euan McKenzie of Autograph controlled the sound level limiter settings with Dan Veneri of 100 
Wardour Street monitoring the band and DJ. 

1.5 Noise measurements were made by Neil Jarman.  The readings were made using a Norsonic 
type 140 Precision Sound Level Meter fitted with windshield.  The meter was calibrated 
before, during and after the survey using a Norsonic type 1251 calibrator and found to have 
drifted by an insignificant 0.1 dB.  The readings were all made whilst music was playing 
continuously (i.e. did not include any pauses between tracks).  As the tests were done in the 
daytime the levels recorded do not include customer noise as with some previous tests.  

Ground Floor - 100 Wardour Street 

1.6 At ground floor level there is a dining and seating area at the front, known as the Atrium, 
directly beneath a large glazed rooflight.  Behind that at the rear is a large central bar area with 
lounge seating around.  A check was made in the atrium of sound levels before the band 
started playing, but ‘background’ music playing over the house system.  These levels are 
tabulated below:     

page 163

https://www.colejarman.com/manchester-office/
http://www.colejarman.com/
https://www.colejarman.com/bristol-office/


Acoustic Tests 

Page 2 100 Wardour Street 
 Memorandum 15/0472/M3/1  // 24th October 2019 
 
 

          
          

Description 
dB  
LAeq 

dB Leq @ Octave Band Centre Frequency (Hz) 
63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 

In “The Atrium” 80 62 75 78 77 76 73 66 55 

          
          

T1 Ground Floor, Sound Levels in “The Atrium”  

1.7 These levels were slightly lower than recorded previously. 

1.8 The music was left playing on the ground floor whilst the test progressed in the basement of 
the band and DJ.   During those DJ tests it was discovered that there was some audibility of 
bass sound in flat 35 attributable to the ground floor when a bass heavy track was played; that 
was traced to a non-isolated sub-woofer speaker located under the ground floor DJ console at 
the rear of the premises. This was immediately disconnected and removed. 

Basement - 100 Wardour Street 

1.9 In the basement is the stage area which is used by bands and DJs.   On this occasion there was 
a six piece amplified band made up of: 

 Female Singer 
 Guitar 
 Bass 
 Electronic drums 
 Keyboard 
 Saxophone  

 

1.10 The band played intermittently between 1350-1430 hours, with separate background music 
played on the house system upstairs at ground floor level.  The noise levels were not adjusted 
over the session.  It was agreed those levels were inaudible.   

1.11 Over seven complete individual tracks the LAeq noise levels were 94.5-96.4 dB at 5m from the 
stage (average 95.4 dB LAeq.)     

1.12 The associated average octave band levels are tabulated below: 

page 164



Acoustic Tests 

Page 3 100 Wardour Street 
 Memorandum 15/0472/M3/1  // 24th October 2019 
 
 

           
          

Description 
dB  
LAeq 

dB Leq @ Octave Band Centre Frequency (Hz) 
63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 

Band playing.  Music was 
inaudible 

95 92 95 96 93 91 87 80 71 

          
          

T2 Basement Band Music Sound Levels 

1.13 Once the band was replaced by the DJ the tests were repeated but there was some audibility.  
Initially over two complete tracks (3-4 minutes each) average noise levels were 96.7 dB LAeq.  
The levels were gradually adjusted until agreed inaudible within the flats, those levels being as 
tabulated below: 

          
          

Description 
dB  
LAeq 

dB Leq @ Octave Band Centre Frequency (Hz) 
63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 

DJ operating.  Music was 
inaudible 

91 85 89 88 85 85 85 81 78 

          
          

T3 Basement DJ Music Sound Levels 

1.14 Following the tests it was agreed with Anil Drayan that the limiter would be set to give a level 
of 91 dB LAeq for both band and DJ music. 

1.15 There will be further agreement concerning additional monitoring of the levels. 

 End of Section 

page 165



page 166



page 167



page 168



page 169



page 170



page 171



page 172



page 173



page 174



page 175



page 176



page 177



 
Annex 8  

 
Supplemental documents received as late submissions 

 
 
 
 
  

 

page 178



page 179



page 180



page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



page 183



page 184



page 185



page 186



page 187



page 188



page 189



page 190



page 191



page 192



page 193



page 194



page 195



page 196



page 197



page 198



page 199



page 200



page 201



page 202



page 203



page 204



page 205



page 206



page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



page 209



page 210



page 211



page 212



page 213



page 214



Events of Note Since License Review 
 
14/6 
 Sound Test #1 
First Test since License Review on Friday Evening with 9 piece band.John Crockford and 2 other 
officers present. 
 
21/6 
Tenant in Loft 28 makes complaint to owner of late night music coming from 100 Wardour. 
Perhaps significantly the tenant is unaware of any previous history of noise nuisance. 
 
3/7 
At approx 2.00 pm loud music audible in  
Witnessed  by David Steele, . 
Confirmed as definitely coming from 100 Wardour. 
 
9/7 
16.42 

 reports music coming from 100 Wardour 
 
26/7 
Sound Test #2 
Late night test focused on Loft 38 with Live Music. 
Huge increase in volume noticed and Sound Levels reduced to a nominal value of 95dB. 
No official limit given. 
Difficulty to now use drum kit and further test planned.John Crockford present. 
Question of how is was possible for music level to increase so significantly since last test. 
In Test #1 time ran out before 38 could be visited,but sound levels still higher during Test #2. 
 
14/08 
Meeting with senior management of D and D restaurants. 
David Steele on behalf of the residents, 
with David Loewi,Michael Farquhar,and Leslie Kwarteng present. 
Friendly and Constructive meeting. 
It is agreed to use 3dB’Buffer’ to help ensure music not audible in flats above 100 Wardour. 
After this test things improve for most residents but still occasional music problems particularly at 
weekends. 
 
2/10 
Sound Test#3 
Short rather hurried Test organised by Anil Drayon. 
Sound Limiter set to 94dB. 
3dB buffer used. 
 
4/10  
Music audible in Loft 35,and Loft 15, 
Attempt to report to Noise Team online as advised  by Westminster Council. 
 
5/10 Music audible in Loft 35 and Loft 15. 
Attempt to report online to Noise Team 
Noise Team website crashes whole weekend. 

page 215



Send screen shots as evidence, 
Residents of 
Loft 25 and 16 both away, 
 
23/10 
Sound Test #4 
Afternoon Test,first with live music but focused on the DJ set/recorded music. 
John Crockford and Gavin Macintosh spend long time in  establishing sound level to make 
sure music inaudible in flat.Guang Yu Ren is also present as independent witness. 
Test goes on much longer than anticipated and volume levels are reduced much further. 
Questions of how and why music levels much higher than in previous tests. 
 
Anil Drayon calls at least twice,asking John Crockford to finish test and saying how unhappy 100 
Wardour are at the lower volume levels.He is speaking so loudly that John Crockford cannot keep 
the phone to his ear and we all clearly hear the conversations. 
Both 90dB and 91dB are both mentioned as levels 100 Wardour cannot go bellow by Anil. 
John explains the music is still audible and continues with test. 
Eventually we get to a level where music is inaudible and test concludes. 
We ask what level the Sound Limiter was set to and John tells us 88dB. 
We both make a note. 
At that time all seem to have forgotten about 3dB Buffer. 
 
25/10  
Anil Drayon emails to say Sound Limiter is set to 91dB. 
Not 88dB as agreed. 
Much confusion why agreed limit is not set. 
Residents very unhappy about turn of events. 
As we try to find out exactly what happened,any details that do emerge fail to clarify the situation. 
We are sent a copy of text message from John Crockford to Euan Mackenzie ( working for 100 
Wardour)  ‘Hear from Anil that it was at 97 not 94’ which does cause great concern. 
Other messages do not make anything clearer,and are contradictory to other information received. 
Will enclose John Crockford’s message screen shots by separate email. 
We  still await answers to most of our questions,but will of course update the Sub Committee as we 
get further information prior to the hearing. 
 
 
 
Conclusions/Observations  
The Sound Limiters don’t function properly. 
Since the 2nd incident of 3/7 we have asked for an explanation of how they failed. 
We have given dates and in some cases exact times of when the limiters failed,but have yet to hear 
any explanation whatsoever. 
Much emphasis was put on the function of the Sound Limiter and the new System at the last 
hearing. 
The new system we were told would provide absolute certainty that the residents would no longer 
be disturbed. 
This has not been the case. 
Generally after Test #2 things have improved,but throughout the time period since June various  
incidents of music disturbance have occurred. 
If the system worked there would have been none. 
 

page 216



 
 
There are huge problems  with the methodology and procedures of the   
Sound Tests. 
On a very basic level something is not working. 
If Sound Test #4 was necessary,what went wrong in Tests  #1,#2 and#3? 
If the hearing about to take place on Nov 12 had taken place a month earlier the Licence Committee 
would have been reassured by all parties other than the residents that the matter had been 
permanently resolved. 
This was not the case. 
Last month Test #3 should have ensured music was inaudible, 
but just a few days later the Noise Team was being contacted. 
Why would the Sound Levels observed by Westminster Officers vary so wildly on different days? 
We appear to be in a never ending circle of Sound Tests. 
 
We thought the decision of the License Review to adjourn proceedings to give the License holder 
time to resolve the issues was fair. 
However the direction of the Committee to permanently resolve the problems  
Has not been followed. 
We must be sure that inaudibility has been achieved and that this inaudibility will be maintained 
permanently,supported by robust conditions on the license. 
Stronger action still,should at least be considered. 
 
Regards  
 
David Steele 

page 217



Dear all, 
I am writing to all to give an account of the Sound Test of Wednesday 
23rd Oct. David thought it is important to have an independent witness 
present at the Test and also someone that is used to taking quick accurate 
notes. I am an architect and , 
UCL. 
  

I arrived at 1.30pm. After a brief visit to establish the sound from the live 
music was no longer audible, John Crockford and an acoustic consultant 
from 100 Wardour St left David’s flat. 
  

John later returned with Gavin McIntosh to test the sound levels for the DJ 
set. Upon entering, they immediately said volume levels were higher in the 
rest of the building. We all went into David’s bedroom, and agreed the 
music was clearly audible there. John then started a process of asking the 
restaurant to turn down various elements of the Sound System, in an 
attempt to find a way to effectively reduce the sound level. 
  

John was in touch with the restaurant through text messages and kept us 
informed at each stage. Turning off the main DJ monitor drastically improved 
situation, but 100 Wardour was not very keen to do so. He then 
experimented with reduced volume levels and turning down other 
speakers. Eventually after some time, John settled on the solution of 
reducing the volume levels overall, specifically the main left and right, and 
turning off completely the ground floor subs. 
  

We then went through another process of fine tuning. During this process, 
Anil called John twice. I was informed of his name by John and David, but 
thought he worked for the restaurant. Anil spoke very loudly and was 
probably unaware there were 3 other people who could hear the 
conversation very clearly. His voice on the phone repeatedly said, “they 
have only just been able to play to 90dB”. I asked John what that means 
and why was 90dB important. I assume that the music was playing at 
around 89dB at the time of our conversation, as Anil made many references 

page 218



to the restaurant not being happy.  He also pressured John to complete the 
test in David’s flat, but John informed him the music was still audible and 
carried on with the test. We waited whilst John went through further 
adjustment and exchanged texts with the restaurant. The music finally got to 
the point where it was almost inaudible and we all agreed that it was on 
an acceptable level. I asked John what number it was on and he informed 
me it was 88dB with a general reduction in volume on main left and right, 
and no sub on the ground floor. Both David and I made a note of this. 
  

The process we all went through was arduous for everyone and we all tried 
our very best to be fair and reasonable. In previous conversations, David 
had expressed his concern over the sound consultant from 100 Wardour 
coming into his home, but he welcomed him in the most cooperative manner 
and showed good will. Both John and Gavin were patient, professional, and 
put a lot of work into their efforts to identify the sound level and reducing 
it. We spent between 2 to 3 hours in David’s bedroom and were all happy 
with the result in the end, simply based on the fact that we found a sound 
level (88dB) where the music was no longer audible.  

  

I have written down the process John, Gavin, David and I went through, 
hoping to demonstrate that the final sound level of 88dB was a very 
considered result after much effort and work from the Westminster sound 
team. It took a whole afternoon and much work to arrive at this satisfactory 
level. 
  

I would also like to reiterate that it was absolutely certain that the final 
sound level was 88dB as I specifically asked John Crockford to confirm this 
at the end of the test. 
  

Regards, 
 

    
 
 

page 219



 
Annex 9  

 
Decision Notice from Hearing dated 16th May 2019 

 
 
 
 
  

 

page 220



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE No. 5 

Thursday 16 May 2019 
 

Membership:  Councillor Murad Gassanly (Chairman), Councillor Louise 
Hyams and Councillor Aicha Less  

 
Legal Adviser:   Barry Panto 
Policy Adviser:  Kerry Simpkin 
Committee Officer:   Georgina Wills  
Presenting Officer:   Kevin Jackaman  
 
Relevant Representations: Environmental Health Service,  
Licensing Authority and Westminster City Inspectors and six local residents, 
all in support of the review application    
 
Present: Richard Brown (Westminster Citizen Advice Bureau on behalf of the 
applicants for the review); David Steele, Andy Mackay, Lucinda Mackay,  Alan 
Geeves and Issac Romanov (applicants for the review; Mustafa Abdo 
(witness for the applicants); Maxwell Koduah and John Crockford 
(Environmental Health); Roxsana Haq (Licensing Authority); Stephen Walsh 
QC (Counsel on behalf of the Premises Licence Holder); Elizabeth Southorn 
and Francesca Burnett Hall, Harris Hagan Solicitors ( on behalf of the 
Premises License Holder); David Loewi, Chief Operating Officer and Deputy 
Chairman, Michael Farquhar, Operations Director and Leslie Kwarteng, 
Senior General Manager and DPS, (all on behalf of D&D London Limited and 
the Premises License Holder, 100 Wardour Limited); Euan Mackenzie, 
Autograph Technical Audio Engineer (on behalf of the Premises Licence 
Holder), and Lee Montague, Cole Jarman Acoustic Experts (on behalf of the 
Premises Licence Holder).  
 

100 Wardour, Ground Floor, Wardour Street London, W1F 0TN (“The 
Premises”) 19/02509/LIREVP 
 

1. On 1st March 2019 an application had been submitted by David Steele, Andy 
Mackay, Lucinda Mackay, Alan Geeves and Issac Romanov, for a review of the 
premises licence for 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, Wardour Street London, W1F 
0TN (the Premises) on the grounds of prevention of public nuisance. The 
Premises was situated in the West End within the West End Cumulative Impact 
Area. 
 
Mr Kevin Jackaman (Presenting Officer) outlined the Application and confirmed 
that five local residents had applied to review the Premises License and that 
representations had also been received from Environmental Health Services, 
the Licensing Authority, Westminster City Inspectors and six other residents.  
Mr Richard Brown, (Westminster Citizen’s Advice Bureau) was representing 
residents. The Licensing Officer advised that Late representations had been 
received from the Applicants, the Environmental Health Service and the 
Premises Holder on 13 May 2019 and that all documentation had been 
circulated to all parties. 
 
The Chair advised the Hearing that the Sub-Committee were determined to find 
a permanent resolution to the concerns and issues which had led to the 

page 221



Application being made and noted that the problems encountered by residents 
were historic and still ongoing.  
 
Richard Brown addressed the Sub-Committee and introduced the residents who 
were present at the Hearing. Mr Brown advised that the residents resided in 
Soho Lofts and all were long-term residents. He commented that residents 
acknowledged and fully accepted that Soho was a lively area within the Capital 
and brought attention to the copious documents which had been submitted to 
the Sub-Committee. He commented that the late submissions included 
complaints about noise seeping into Flat 15 on 2nd May (page 46 of the 
supplemental bundle) and a ‘timeline’ which detailed the public nuisance 
caused by the Premises since the Application had been made (page31 of the 
supplemental bundle). Mr Brown advised that evidence provided by residents 
included a letter from a Headteacher which raised concerns about noise 
nuisance and its effects on three young residents (page 21 of the supplemental 
bundle). Mr Brown advised that a further six residents had submitted 
representations regarding audio leakage into their flats; five residents had 
complained about the music and the last resident about crowd dispersal.  
 
Mr Brown advised that residents were adversely affected by the audio spillage 
from the premises and this issue had caused a nuisance for several decades. 
This had impacted on residents’ daily home life and in particular caused 
disturbances whilst occupiers were asleep. Music played at the Premises would 
travel through the structure of the building and reverberate into several 
residents’ flats. He commented that a recurrent pattern had been embedded in 
which residents would complain to both the local authority and the Premises 
staff members about the noise nuisance. This would subsequently result in 
interventions from regulated authorities, the nuisances being witnessed, and 
then a Section 80 Notice being served when deemed appropriate. Following the 
above process measures would be put in place to ensure that the noise levels 
were made inaudible. However, these levels would only be reduced for a period 
and would then subsequently later return to a volume which would cause public 
nuisance. Mr Brown advised that the mentioned pattern had led residents to 
apply for this Review of the Premises License.     

Mr Brown indicated that complaints had been made to the Council on numerous 
occasions about the nuisance and that they had been provided with ‘mixed 
messages’ from different Council Services about their concerns regarding the 
operation of the noise limiter. He advised that Mr Steele had submitted a sound 
clip to Westminster City Inspectors in December 2018. Environmental Health 
had responded and acknowledged that there were problems with the noise 
limiter but  in separate correspondence had commented that the noise limiter 
setting was fine. 
        
The Sub-Committee was advised that regulated entertainment was permitted 
until 03:00 hrs in the Basement and 01:00 hrs in the Ground Floor at the 
Premises. Mr Brown commented that music from this part of the building 
alongside the atrium could be heard in residents’ flats and the noise limiter in 
these vicinities were not functioning.  Mr Brown advised that the noise nuisance 
during the latter part of 2018 had increasingly become worse. During this period 
the music volume had become much higher and that the music was being 
played at a later time and increasingly during the latter part of the week.  Mr 
Brown advised that a Section 80 Abatement Notice had been previously served 

page 222



on the Premises in 2013. However, a spot check was undertaken in 2013 and it 
was found that the noise limiter at the premises was ‘operating in the red’. 
Environmental Health also carried out a spot check in 2012 and it was found 
that the noise limiters were discounted on the Ground Floor and disabled on the 
Basement and were not operating. Mr Brown suggested that an Abatement 
Notice could have been served again in October 2018. Environmental Health 
had acknowledged that the noise limiter at the Premises was not being set at an 
appropriate level and that conditions were being breached.  
 
Mr Brown advised that the efficacy of the noise limiters was of concern and 
there were numerous examples of when the equipment was not working. He 
referred to page 67 onwards of the Agenda which contained emails about noise 
nuisance emanating from the Premises between residents, Council Officers and 
staff from the Premises. He commented that noise nuisance would occur during 
the interim in which Council Officers would check the noise limiter and then 
leave the Premises. There was uncertainty on why disturbance occurred in the 
interim and whether the noise limiters installed in the Premises were being 
tampered with or had a technical fault during the mentioned periods.  
 
Mr Brown commented that the Premises License Holder was aware that the 
noise limiters were instrumental in ensuring that residents were protected from 
the mentioned nuisance and this was referenced in paragraph 3.22 of the Cole 
Jarman Noise Statement for the Licensing Hearing (page 148 of the agenda 
papers).  Mr Brown advised that there were reports of nuisance before and after 
the new sound system was installed. The new sound system was installed on 
the 18 March 2019 and a complaint about noise was submitted on the 27 April 
2019. Mr Brown advised that there were still ongoing issues about noise 
nuisance.  
 
Mr Brown advised that there had been noise testing in some flats and this 
included Mr Steele’s flat which was located on the 3rd Floor. He commented 
when an inaudible level was achieved in Mr Steele’s flat another resident who 
resided in  had advised that noise could be heard in his flat. Mr Brown 
advised that there was lack of confidence in whether the new sound system 
would resolve concerns. Mr Steele also raised concerns of dispersal outside the 
Premises which had been made by a resident and noted that these concerns 
also followed the same pattern in which warnings were given, followed by 
intervention and then concerns returning.  
 
Mr Brown commented on the amount of resources which Environmental Health 
and other Council Departments had inputted in the Premises. He indicated that 
residents were also uncertain as to whether the noise nuisance could be 
resolved and if a permanent remedy could be found.     
 
Mr Brown noted that the License Holder accepted that music should be 
inaudible in residential flats and commented that the Conditions should be 
updated. He commented that conditions should be amended and referred to a 
WCC model condition  which stated that the ‘ No noise generated on the 
premises, or by the associated plant or equipment shall emanate from the 
premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of the property 
which gives rise to a nuisance’  and commented that the word ‘inaudibility’ 
should be retained in the condition. Mr Brown advised the following wording 
should be included ‘is inaudible to neighbouring properties and or give rise to 

page 223



nuisance’ after the sentence ‘the structure of the property which gives rise to 
nuisance’.  
 
Mr Brown suggested that a condition should be included which required the 
password for the noise limiter to be solely held by the company which installs 
and maintains the equipment. The current condition enabled the License Holder 
to retain the password. Mr Brown advised that residents were not concerned 
what hours of the day music was played at the Premises but wanted the music 
from the premises to be inaudible. He advised that a condition was being 
sought to reduce the hours of regulated entertainment at the premises and this 
was done in order to be assured that music would not emanate from the 
Premises during later hours.  
 
David Steele addressed the Sub-Committee and stressed that the Premises 
was based in a building which also had a residential component. He advised 
that occupiers were part of a close and active community who engaged with 
their neighbours and celebrated milestones. Mr Steele advised that he had 
resided in the Soho area for over 23 years and that residents did not oppose 
regulated entertainment at the premises or when these activities took place but 
solely wanted to ensure that all music was inaudible in their flats. He 
commented about the ‘intrusive nature’ of the audio leakage and advised that 
the noise spillage could be heard in his, and his neighbours, flats several days 
of the week.  
 
Mr Steele advised that he had taken the role of a co-ordinator and acted on 
behalf of other residents. He stated that this position was previously undertaken 
by a neighbour who had since left and this was due to the nuisance 
experienced. He commented that the former resident resided in  and that 
noise was still audible in this dwelling. Mr Steele advised that seven residents 
had initially supported the application to review the Premise Licence of the 
establishment and that a further six residents were also in support and had 
commented that they were experiencing audio spillage in their flats. 
 
Mr Steele advised that his family and other residents had been adversely 
affected by the noise. He stated that his son had experienced noise nuisance   
when revising for public exams and his wife whilst she was experiencing the 
early stages of labour during the late evening and early morning. The Sub-
Committee was advised that an elderly former long-term resident was subjected 
to noise nuisance during the latter part of his life. The resident had been 
diagnosed with terminal cancer and had since died. Mr Steele advised that this 
resident had confided that music could be heard in his flat up to 03:00 hrs. He 
also stated that the resident was unable to give Council officers access to his 
flat and this was due to his illness. The individual had sought help from 
Councillors, but none had been forthcoming.  
 
Mr Steele advised that he had extensive experience in sound recording and 
commented that the professional evidence provided was not fully correct. He 
referred to the letter from John Warhurst, who was an expert in this field, at 
page 117 of the agenda papers. This indicated that sound limiters are 
essentially simple devices that don’t change according to the time of day or how 
many people are present. Mr Steele commented that the proposal to install 
passive speakers would be inadequate as they were like active speakers and 
therefore the level of volume of the music would not change. He also advised 

page 224



that the proposal to install anti-vibration Pads may be inadequate and that he 
was present during tests. Mr Steele advised that there were up to seven pillars 
in the vicinity and each were vibrating alongside the walls whilst testing was 
being conducted. He further commented that the proposal to install other noise 
limiting devices would cause the whole building to shake. He advised that the 
structure of the building was one of the contributing factors for noise leakages 
and that the proposed installations would make matters worse.  
 
Mr Steele advised that the Sound Report from the Premise License Holder was 
emailed to Environmental Health. Mr Steele stressed that an expert should 
inspect the buildings and that any assessments on noise leakages must include 
visits to residents’ flats. This would allow occupiers to indicate where noise 
leakages can be found in their homes. Mr Steele advised that a test was 
conducted at the Premises by Council Officers on 4 December 2018 and it was 
advised that the noise limiter should be set at a volume which would prevent the 
noise volume from increasing. However, he commented on the 13 December 
2018 that the Council’s noise team had been contacted about audio leakage in 
residents’ flats.  
 
The Sub-Committee viewed video footage which had been recorded on 15 
December 2018 and which showed that music could be heard in the vicinity in 
which the recording was made. Following questions from the Legal Officer, Mr 
Steele advised that the recording was made from a flat which was located on 
the 3rd Floor and that music could be heard at 19:00hrs. He advised that during 
the recording a DJ was playing a set on the Ground Floor of the Premises. Mr 
Steele stated that audio from the Premises Basement was the primary concern. 
He commented that during the later hours the music base become more 
prominent and that the audio should have been inaudible from the flat if the 
sound limiter was in operation. Mr Steele advised that three pictures were taken 
of amplifiers being brought into the Premises and that this was a breach of the 
licence condition. He commented that a letter had been received from Harris 
Hagan Solicitors, the Premises License Holder Solicitors assuring him that 
concerns would be addressed during the same period.    
 
Mr Steele commented that the Premises was continuously breaching the terms 
and conditions of their license and advised that music would be played on the 
Ground Floor of the Premises after permitted hours. It was during these 
occasions that noise was audible in resident flats. Mr Steele advised that on 
one occasion it was found that the noise limiters had been removed.      
 
In response to questions from the Sub-Committee, Mr Steele advised that the 
Premise Licence Holder had not sought advice from him despite his expertise in 
sound engineering. He commented that all floors of the Premises needed to be 
visited to ensure a comprehensive assessment of the building structure was 
made. Mr Steele advised that the Premise License holder had failed to sound 
proof the building despite advice from their architects and this was due to cost 
savings. He commented that this had led to the ongoing issues experienced by 
residents Mr Steele noted that Premise License holder had the same Adviser 
for 23 years and that matters should have been resolved during this period.  
 
Mr Steele commented that the reports from Environmental Health and 100 
Wardour Street conflicted and highlighted that the former had reported that 
there was noise nuisance from the Premises and these findings repudiated the 

page 225



evidence by the latter that the sound limiter could not be overridden. He 
commented that only one of the reports was correct.  
 
The statement from Mr Steele in support of the review application appears at 
page 25 of the agenda papers. 
 
Andrew Mackay addressed the Sub-Committee and advised that he resided on 
the 3rd Floor of Soho Lofts. He stated that his flat overlooked Wardour Street 
and that his bedroom was located at the back of the flat. Mr Mackay advised 
that there were different types of noise and that audio spillage would seep into 
his bedroom from Wardour Street. The Sub-Committee was advised that a 
pattern had emerged in which music would peak between the hours of 15:00hrs 
and 20:30hrs and then later increase in volume during the end of the evening. 
He speculated that DJs were deliberately increasing the volume during the later 
hours.  
 
Mr Mackay advised that he had purchased his flat during the mid-1990s and 
during this period the Premises operated as a ‘high end’ restaurant and was 
affiliated with the Conran franchise. He commented that he had not anticipated 
that site would later be used as a night club in which food was served and 
dancing permitted. Mr Mackay advised that the ‘disco beats’ emanating from the 
Premises were irritating and that his wife had written several letters about the 
noise nuisance. He further stated that he had not continuously resided in his flat 
throughout the 2000s but had lived there for the past 7 years and had 
experienced noise nuisances during these periods. He also highlighted that 
were number of young children who resided in the flats. 
 
The statement from Mr and Mrs Mackay in support of the review application 
appears at page 28 of the agenda papers. 
 
Alan Geeves addressed the Sub-Committee and advised that he resided in Flat 
21, 2nd Floor, Soho Lofts and had lived there since 2001. Mr Geeves advised 
that he worked in the ‘City’ and left his home during the early morning and found 
the noise spillage from the Premises difficult. He commented that the audio 
leakage had increasingly become worse over the past several years and that 
attempts to engage with staff members at the Premises had been made. He 
commented that the Premises would reduce the volume of music when liaised 
with, however it would not be sustained. Mr Geeves advised that he was a 
social person and commented that he had become frustrated by the ongoing 
process of trying to resolve the above concerns. 
 
The statement from Mr Geeves in support of the review application appears at 
page 33 of the agenda papers. 
 
Isaac Romanov addressed the Sub-Committee and advised that he resided on 
first floor of Soho Lofts and had occupied his flat for fifteen years. Mr Romanov 
advised that there were periods in which audio from the Premises was audible 
in his flat and this would occur when equipment was moved by staff members of 
the Premises. He stated that columns and walls may act as sound booms and 
the positioning of equipment would exaggerate the sound. He advised that the 
noise spillage would return and there was uncertainty as to why this would 
occur.  
 

page 226



The statement from Mr Romanov in support of the review application appears at 
page 30 of the agenda papers. 
 
Lucinda Mackay, resident  , addressed the Sub-
Committee and advised that she agreed and supported the submissions which 
had been made by her neighbours. She advised that letters had been written to 
the staff members at the Premises about noise spillage; this correspondence 
was acknowledged, and the music volumes would be reduced. Ms Mackay 
advised that the latter would not be sustained and would later return to a 
volume that caused nuisance. 
 
Mustafa Abdo, addressed the Sub-Committee and advised that he was the 
Maintenance Building Manager for Soho Lofts and was due to move into one of 
the flats. Mr Abdo advised the Sub-Committee that the above-mentioned 
deceased resident had regularly complained about the audio spillage from the 
Premises entering his flat during the early morning and that this would take 
place between 02:00hrs and 03:00hrs. He commented that the resident had on 
occasions slept in his office and that other residents had also tried to assist. He 
advised that a number of residents had approached staff at the Premises about 
the audio nuisance and commented that noise would be quelled for a few days.  
 
Mr Abdo advised that residents had complained about audio spillage and that 
staff members at the premises had been advised that noise from the Premises 
restaurant could be heard on the 2nd Floor. He commented that he could hear 
singing and bass music when he visited his new flat and had concerns about 
noise nuisance. Mr Abdo advised that he was a parent of a young child and that 
his wife had health concerns.  
 
The statement from Mr Abado in support of the review application appears at 
page 35 of the agenda papers. 
 
The Chair thanked residents for their submissions and noted their frustration 
about the failures to permanently address concerns.  
 
Maxwell Koduah, Environmental Health, addressed the Sub-Committee and 
provided an outline of the complaints which had been received about the 
Premises since 2011. He referenced pages 131 to 141 of the agenda papers. 
Mr Koduah confirmed that a Section 80 Abatement Notice had been served at 
the Premises in 2013 and highlighted that no complaints had been received 
about the establishment for 16 months following the Notice. Mr Koduah 
highlighted that the above period demonstrated that the noise limiters could 
work when in full operation. He stated that an application to carry out works in 
the Premises alongside minor variations had been submitted in 2015. These 
included changes to the Ground Floor and Basement and the supporting pillars 
so to allow these structures to be covered with noise attenuation materials. 
These materials were also applied to the lifts which serviced the Mezza and the 
bar. Mr Koduah stressed the mentioned works had been undertaken to prevent 
noise spillage.  
 
Mr Koduah highlighted pages 15 and 16 of the Supplemental Agenda papers 
which contained a statement from a Council Officer in 2018 which stated that 
noise from the Premises could be heard on the ground floor, foyer and retro lifts 
and commented that this should not have occurred as this area had been 

page 227



treated for noise spillage. Mr Koduah confirmed that several complaints had 
been received from residents in 2018. He commented that some complaints 
received were related to the den on the ground floor and advised that these 
areas were licensed. He advised that works should have been undertaken in 
this area to prevent noise spillage.  
 
Mr Koduah drew attention to page 18 of the Supplemental Agenda papers 
which listed the variations to the licence that had been proposed by the 
previous licence holder (Mezzo) in 2015 which had included the application of 
noise attenuation materials to the pillars, walls and passenger lift. He also 
commented that deregulation provided for by s177A Licensing Act 2003 would 
not apply after 23:00hrs. He sugested that Conditions 15,16,17 and 41 on the 
current licence should be replaced with the current Model Condition on Noise 
Limiters.  Mr Koduah advised that Model Condition 14 should be included and 
noted that the Condition required that noise should not be audible nor cause a 
nuisance and suggested that the condition on noise limiters should include 
‘inaudibility’ as one of the requirements.  Mr Koduah advised that model 
conditions 26 and 57 should also be considered by the Sub-Committee.   
 
Following questions from the Sub-Committee, Mr Koduah advised that the level 
of resources inputted into 100 Wardour Street by Environmental Health was 
above average and that there had been multiple lengthy visits undertaken to the 
Premises before 2011. 
 
John Crockford, an Environmental Health Officer employed by the Council, 
addressed the Sub-Committee and confirmed that there had been several visits 
undertaken to the Premises and that the first was undertaken 2012. He 
commented that visits had also been undertaken by Council Officers in 2005 
and concerns during this period largely stemmed from the Ground Floor of the 
Premises. Mr Crockford commented that there were audio leakages in the 
building and that residents being able to hear words sung indicated that there 
were issues with the basement, ground floor and den of the Premises. He 
advised that there was uncertainty on what happens to the sound control 
mechanism during the interim between visits to the Premises by Council 
Officers and when they leave. He advised that during visits Officers would 
conduct checks in both the Premises and resident’s flats and that the layout of 
the building made it difficult to ascertain areas from which noise would leak. 
 
Mr Crockford advised that in 2017 the noise limiter’s settings were found to be 
correct and that music was inaudible in residents flats. The Sub-Committee was 
advised that ‘sound webs’ had been installed in the Premises for the past 10 
years and should be in operation and a log should be kept when the equipment 
was not functioning.  
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that there was uncertainty on whether some 
of the live musical bands performing at the Premises brought their own 
amplification equipment or whether the amplifiers were being moved into the 
atrium. Mr Crockford advised that the new PA systems were tested on 2 May 
2019 and explained that it would be difficult to set the equipment’s variation, 
and this was due to other noise sources in the vicinity and that a final test was 
to be undertaken. Mr Crockford advised that Mr Steele’s flat was quiet and was 
measured to be in the range of 28 decibels during the daytime and this was 
unusual for buildings located in central London. 

page 228



 
The statement from Mr Crockford in support of the review application appears at 
pages 7 to 13 of the supplemental agenda papers. 
 
Mr Koduah advised that the new PA system installation did not include the Den  
and that this area may contribute to the noise leakages. The Sub-Committee 
raised questions about ‘sound proofing’ and queried why some areas of the 
Premises did not receive this treatment and whether this would have prevented 
audio leakages. The Sub-Committee was advised that it was to difficult to locate 
all parts of the building where there were ‘sound leakages’. 
 
Roxsana Haq, Senior Licensing Officer, Licensing Authority addressed the Sub-
Committee and advised that the Application was supported, and that 
Environmental Health had confirmed that there was a history of complaints 
about the establishment. Ms Haq advised that the conditions proposed by both 
Mr Koduah and the premises licence holder were appropriate. 
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that Officers had acknowledged that there 
was a ‘difference of views’ by Council Departments about the mentioned 
concerns relating to the Premises.  
 
Stephen Walsh QC, (Representing 100 Wardour Street Limited, the Premises 
Licence Holder) addressed the Sub-Committee and advised that D&D London 
Limited was the proprietor Company for 100 Wardour Street and had operated 
at the Premises since 1995 when it was called Mezzo. He confirmed that sound 
proofing was installed during the above period and that similar works had been 
applied to other areas of the Premises during subsequent decades. 
                                                       
Mr Walsh advised that a permanent solution was sought by the License Holder 
and stressed that this position was in the interest of both parties. He 
commented that the License Holder was aware of the Licensing Sub-
Committee’s remit and powers. Mr Walsh highlighted that the founder proprietor 
David Loewi, (Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chairman) and Michael 
Farquhar (Operations Director) were present at the Hearing and commented 
that this demonstrated how committed the License Holders were in ensuring a 
permanent resolution to the concerns raised by residents.  Mr Walsh 
commented that Euan Mackenzie, (Autograph Technical Audio Engineer) and 
Lee Montague (Cole Jarman Acoustic Expert) were also present to give expert 
advice about noise and acoustic matters. 
 
Mr Walsh advised that D&D London Limited was a ‘high calibre’ License 
Operator who managed several establishments around the world which were in 
prime locations. He advised that Mr Leslie Kwarteng (Senior General Manager 
and DPS) had been acknowledged by the City of London Police for overseeing 
the ‘best venue’ in the City of London. Mr Walsh commented that the profile that 
D&D Holdings was a company which was indifferent to the concerns raised by 
residents was erroneous and highlighted that the Company had dealt with all 
issues that had arisen. He stated that it was accepted that there was a history of 
noise breakouts from the Premises and agreed that this need to be resolved.  
 
Mr Walsh advised that 100 Wardour Street had evolved over the years and now 
comprised of a restaurant, bar, lounge and these components were spread over 
the Basement and Ground Floor of the Premises. He commented that from its 

page 229



inception the Premises had a late license which included music and dancing 
and that it had operated in a similar capacity for several years.  Mr Walsh 
reiterated that the noise escape issues that had arisen needed to be resolved 
and that an effective sound limiting device was required. 
 
The Sub-Committee was advised that the pillars had been shaking and sound 
tests had been undertaken which involved playing loud music and bringing the 
volume down. He advised that D&D London Limited had researched and 
identified a sound system which was of a better quality and which could be 
paired with a noise limiter that could not be overridden. Mr Walsh advised that 
the noise limiter would be password protected and commented that the Premise 
License Holder would accept a condition to the effect that the password would 
be retained by the company which installed the equipment rather than the 
Licensee. These measures and the Conditions imposed on the licence would 
ensure that all concerns were resolved permanently. 
 
Mr Walsh advised that it was identified that a new sound system was required 
at the latter part of 2018 and that there were concerns with distortion. He 
commented that a temporary sound system was installed on 14 December 2018 
following advice from Cole Jarman and this was an upgrade from the previous 
system. It was planned that a permanent fixture would be installed in 2019. Mr 
Walsh advised that full system had been fitted in April 2019. 
 
Euan Mackenzie, (Autograph Technical Audio Engineer) addressed the Sub-
Committee and provided a summary of the features of the new sound system. 
His written statement also appeared at pages 25 to 29 of the supplementary 
agenda papers. Mr Mackenzie commented that the new large subwoofers 
would reduce the reliance on the speakers located on the left and right of the 
stage to produce low frequency noise. He commented that these speakers were 
physically attached to the building and were more likely to cause reverberations. 
The subwoofers will also be on isolation platforms and this was designed to 
ensure that they support the isolation from the surface which they are on. He 
commented that the two loudest speakers were mounted on the left and right of 
the stage and would have a narrower dispersion than the previous speakers. 
This would ensure that less of the noise generated is directed behind the 
speakers and that sound is directed away from the front of the column.  
 
Mr Mackenzie advised that the noise limiters would be password protected and 
the password would be retained by Autograph. He commented that there would 
be fewer ways for the limiters to be physical changed. The settings have been 
set by Autograph and Council Officers and was at a level which would ensure 
that noise is inaudible in residents flats. The noise limiter was reported to be a 
‘voltage limiter’ and cannot be increased once it reached its peak.   
 
Mr MacKenzie advised that the sound system would not operate if the noise 
limiters were switched off. The amplifiers had been set in accordance to the 
settings of the noise limiters and that there were no physical controls on these 
devices. The newly installed amplifiers were reported to be ‘the state of the art’ 
and Mr Mackenzie commented that they were located off stage. The Sub-
Committee was advised that live acts and DJs performing at the Premises 
would have to connect to the sound system and that all sound will be directed 
via the noise limiters. A total of £80 000 has been invested in the new sound 
system. The Sub-Committee was advised that Autograph Technology were 

page 230



experts in audio engineering and worked with a diverse clientele. 
 
Mr Walsh advised that sound testing had taken place on 2 May 2019 and this 
exercise included Mr Steele’s flat. The Sub-Committee was advised that the test 
had a positive result and were informed that the above exercise needed to be 
carried out in more flats. He commented that the License Holder was willing to 
co-operate to ensure that noise limiters were effective in all the ‘sensitive’ parts 
of the building. 
 
Mr Walsh advised that the License Holder had co-operated with the 
Environmental Health Officers to ensure that noise was inaudible in residents’ 
flats and that noise limiters were set at a level which would enable this. He 
commented that the evidence from the experts and other measures undertaken 
should eliminate the concerns of residents. The Sub-Committee were advised 
that there was no evidence or history of live bands bringing their own equipment 
to the Premises. Mr Walsh advised that the photograph which was referred to 
earlier where it was suggested that amplification equipment had been brought 
onto the ground floor had been investigated and it was found that it was a 
monitor which was used by the DJ to test their own sound levels and that noise 
level from this equipment would be significantly lower than the noise limiting 
device. He commented that under the new operations the above could not 
occur and that all speakers would be linked to the new sound system.   
 
The Sub-Committee noted that that were drums and bongos shown in the 
photograph and were advised that there was a condition on the license which 
prohibited such instruments being amplified on the ground floor of the premises.   
 
Mr Walsh referred to page 145 of the Agenda which contained the noise 
statement from Cole Jarman and commented that the report outlined the 
consultation which had occurred with the company. Mr Lee Montague (Cole 
Jarman Acoustic Expert), advised that the sound system had several features 
which were of a higher specification than its predecessor and that several 
enhancements had been included to ensure that the anti-vibration from hangers 
and mounts from the systems to limit noise were improved. He commented that 
a test had been conducted to ensure that sound was inaudible in residents flats, 
and that the equipment installed was of a high specification.  
 
Mr Montague advised that the sound limiters system had recently been 
inspected and confirmed that they were located at the back of house and were 
kept in a locked room. There are no physical buttons on the limiter device or 
amplifiers and both were electronically operated and were password protected. 
Mr Montague advised that all sound routed via the noise limiters would be 
inaudible if musical devices were not set at an appropriate level. 
 
Mr Montague advised that on 2 May 2019 all areas were tested to ensure that 
each transfer area was addressed, and these included the Ground Floor, 
Basement and atrium. He commented that inaudibility was achieved in some 
flats during the test and that further testing was required to ensure that this 
occurred in all dwellings. Mr Montague commented that residents had advised 
that there had been long periods where there had been no noise nuisance and 
informed that this could be achieved if noise limiter settings were appropriately 
set.   
 

page 231



In response to the Sub-Committee, Mr Montague advised that the sound 
system was ‘hard wired’ and the input to the amplifiers and noise limiters were 
in a locked room and that these devices could not be bypassed as they had no 
physical controls. The amplifiers and limiters were reported to be located at the 
‘last point of the system’ and had no physical links.   
 
In response to questions from the Environmental Health Officer, Mr Montague 
advised that noise generated by patrons would have no effect on the volume of 
music and that the sound system had been designed to direct sound to the 
main listening area which was the centre of the basement. The Sub-Committee 
was advised that the music sound would be at a higher volume than general 
patrons’ noise and the main concern was with amplified music. The number of 
patrons would not affect noise limiters.    
 
Mr Walsh commented about the dispersal of crowds and highlighted that there 
were several licensed establishments in Wardour Street who operated until 
03:00 hrs. He advised that Wardour Street was ‘one-way’ and had a lot of traffic 
during the evening. He commented that the Premises had developed a smoking 
policy which permitted a maximum of three patrons to be in the designated area 
and this ensured that fire escapes were not blocked. Mr Walsh commented that 
all queues were supervised by SIA trained staff members. Mr Montague 
advised the that noise limiters devices should ensure sound was inaudible and 
this would eradicate the need to reduce the hours of regulated entertainment  
 
Mr Walsh presented the Sub-Committee with a set of Conditions and 
commented the first condition listed reflected the provisions which had been 
requested by the Applicant and Environmental Health Officer. He advised that a 
condition removing the deregulation provisions contained in s177A of the 
Licensing Act 2003 would be accepted and the request to replace Conditions 
15, 16, 17 and 41 had been addressed within the proposed conditions. He 
advised that it was accepted that ‘inaudibility’ should be the appropriate 
condition and confirmed that advice would be sought from Environmental 
Health. Mr Walsh stated that a condition which required the password for the 
noise limiter to be held solely by the installers would be acceptable and this 
measure would safeguard the License Holders from being accused of 
tampering with the device. 
 
Mr Walsh advised that there was historical evidence that there had been 
constant engagement with residents. He advised that the DPS would be 
changed and that a contact number would be provided. A condition to ensure 
that dedicated phone number was available at all times would also be accepted.   
 
The Sub-Committee noted that the focus of the review was based on the testing 
of the new sound system on 2nd May 2019 and the proposals put forward by the 
Premise Licence holder to address the concerns of the residents. The Sub-
Committee raised various questions regarding the noise limiters and the long 
term failure of the License Holder in preventing noise leakages into residential 
flats and queried whether it could be assured that the remedies proposed would 
prevent further breaches. The Sub-Committee noted that there were 
mechanisms for reducing noise levels before the new sound system was in 
place and these had not been fully utilised. 
 
Mr Walsh advised that the Licensing Sub-Committee could be assured that the 

page 232



noise limiter will be adhered to and that no further breaches would occur and 
stressed that this was also in the interest of the Premise Licence Holder. He 
commented that the viability of business was paramount and that the remit of 
the Sub-Committee was understood. The Sub-Committee were reminded that 
D&D London Limited had an excellent track record with engaging with residents 
and this had been demonstrated at Quaglino’s. He commented that the 
submission of an application to review the premises licence had led the 
company to refocus and resulted in a substantial investment in the Premises 
which would ensure that sound was inaudible in resident’s flats. 
 
David Loewi (Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chairman) addressed the 
Sub-Committee and advised that he had opened Mezzo in 1995 with Sir 
Terrance Conran. Mr Loewi commented that he was sympathetic to the 
concerns of residents and advised that he also resided in a ‘busy part’ of 
London. He acknowledged that there had been failures and agreed that the 
concerns of residents should have been resolved. He advised that a similar 
situation had occurred in another Premises called Quaglino’s. He advised that 
these residents had been consulted and the proposal put forward at the Hearing 
were implemented and had worked. Mr Loewi confirmed he was personally 
involved with the consultation alongside Mr Leslie Kwarteng, Senior General 
Manager and DPS. Mr Loewi commented that a substantial investment had 
been made and advised that this was an indication on how committed D&D 
London Limited were in addressing the concerns of residents.  Mr Loewi 
advised that his personal email address would be provided to all residents and 
an offer to regularly meet with the latter would be made.  
 
Mr Brown advised that the condition removing the deregulation of entertainment 
so as to ensure that the entertainment was regulated going forward was 
important and the condition on ‘inaudibility’ was paramount and should be 
amalgamated with Model Condition 14.  Mr Brown advised that a need for a 
new sound system was identified in 2018 and commented that noise nuisance 
was reported after the instalments of both the temporary and permanent sound 
systems. There were complaints made on 25 October 2018 and on 27 May 
2019.  Mr Brown advised that the noise test conducted on 2 May 2019 was a 
positive step but there was still uncertainty on whether noise nuisances would 
cease. He commented that during 2012 Council Officers had found that the 
noise limiter had been disabled and altered and that in 2013 a Section 80 
Notice had been served on the Premises as the device was operating in the 
red.  The Sub-Committee was advised that the same operators were still in 
place and there was uncertainty on whether these issues would be resolved.  
 
Mr Brown submitted that the function of the Sub-Committee was to ensure that 
the Licensing Objectives were met and suggested that the reduction of hours of 
regulated entertainment may be the only feasible action. Mr Brown commented 
that the Applicant had failed to provide the Sub-Committee with copies of the 
dispersal policy, smoking policy and live band policy. This meant, for example, 
that there was no evidence on what policies were in place to ensure that live 
bands don’t plug-in their own equipment and amplifiers to bypass the new 
sound system and the processes in place to govern this area. Mr Brown 
advised that acoustic reports had highlighted the concerns of residents and 
commented that noise limiters could be easily bypassed and commented that ‘it 
was a matter of trust’ on whether measures implemented would suffice. 
 

page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



The Sub-Committee was also advised that a small music band was present 
when the new sound system was tested and that a larger grouping should have 
been present, and bands should be contracted not to plug-in their amplifiers. Mr 
Walsh advised that the noise limiters were not affected by the number of 
musicians.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
 

  
Decision: 
 
The prime objective of the review was to ensure that the complaints about the 
noise escaping from the premises and disturbing residents were permanently 
resolved once and for all. Having heard and considered representations from all 
the parties and Acoustic Consultants, the Sub-Committee decided that the most 
sensible course of action to take in the circumstances was to adjourn the 
Hearing to a later date. The Sub-Committee was of the view that the proposals 
put forward and actions undertaken by the Premise Licence Holder to address 
the concerns of the residents needed to be embedded and tested. These 
included the new PA system and noise limiter system. The Sub-Committee 
noted that there were technical issues with the previous noise limitation system 
which had been installed by the Premises Holder and many of these appeared 
to have been resolved. 
 
The Sub-Committee acknowledged the harmful effects of noise nuisance on 
residents and their families. The Sub-Committee noted that residents had not 
advocated for the Premises Licence to be revoked or suspended but primarily 
wished for the noise levels to subside and had suggested reducing the hours 
permitted for regulated entertainment. The Sub-Committee also noted that there 
had been a recurrent pattern over a prolonged period in which complaints about 
noise nuisance lodged by residents were addressed by the Premises Licence 
Holder and then noise leakage into residents’ flats would resume again at a 
later date.   
   
The Sub-Committee noted the amount of resources which had been inputted by 
Council Officers in relation to addressing complaints and visiting the Premises. 
The Sub-Committee were pleased that the Premise Licence Holder had agreed 
to work with Environmental Health, the Licensing Authority, the Council and the 
residents. The Sub-Committee agreed that all residents’ flats should be tested 
to ensure that noise was inaudible, and that access should be given to Officers 
and the Premise Licence Holder.  The Sub-Committee noted that it was 
proposed that testing be undertaken in the immediate future.   
 
The Sub-Committee welcomed that the Hearing had been attended by Senior 
Directors and that there was a commitment by them to amicably resolve issues 
and ensure that a permanent solution was found for all residents. The intention 
was to resolve matters without the need to reduce the hours for licensable 
activities, but the Sub-Committee wanted to make it clear that those sanctions 
might follow if the problems relating to the escape of noise from the premises 
weren’t adequately addressed. The Sub-Committee agreed that they should 
reconvene in September 2019 and during the interim requested that the 
Environmental Health Service continue to monitor and note any complaints 
received about the premises. 
  

 

page 235



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts2

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts3

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts4

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts5

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts6

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts7

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts8

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts9

	1 100 Wardour, Ground Floor, 100 Wardour Street, London, W1F 0TN
	100 Wardour Report 1_Redacted_Parts10




